IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

In the matter of:

JAY KVAM,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Dec 18 2020 10:04 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court Case No. 81422

District Court Case No. CV18-00764

VS.

BRIAN MINEAU; and LEGION INVESTMENTS, LLC,

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT, INCLUDING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON APPELLANT'S SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL COURT, WASHOE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE LYNNE K. SIMONS, DISTRICT JUDGE

MATUSKA LAW OFFICES, LTD.

Michael L. Matuska (SBN 5711)

2310 S. Carson Street, #6

Carson City, Nevada 89701

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an order granting partial summary judgment including summary judgment on Appellant's seventh cause of action for injunctive relief. The order is appealable under NRAP 3A(b)(3) [An order granting or refusing to grant an injunction or dissolving or refusing to dissolve an injunction].

Dates establishing the timeliness of the appeal are as follows:

Notice of entry of the partial summary judgment order, entered on June 5, 2020, was served on all ECF filers also on June 5, 2020. [14 JA 1993].

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal may be assigned to the Court of Appeals because it involves the grant or denial of injunctive relief under NRAP 17(b)(12), pre-trial discovery orders under NRAP 17(b)(14) and an order granting in part a motion for summary judgment and it does not involve matters presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether Judge Simons committed multiple errors of law and abused her discretion by granting partial summary judgment in favor of Mineau/Legion based on DA (deemed admitted) findings of fact and a sham declaration, and by failing to first rule on underlying discovery motions.
 - 2. Whether genuine issues of fact remain for trial.

- 3. Whether Judge Simons abused her discretion by failing to rule on the Discovery Commissioner's January 10, 2020 *Recommendation for Order?*
- 4. Whether Judge Simons abused her discretion by failing to rule on Kvam's *Motion for Reconsideration*?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns a failed real estate investment whereby the parties agreed to purchase, renovate and resell a house located at 7747 S. May Street, Chicago, Illinois, essentially, a "flip" project. Appellant Jay Kvam is the plaintiff in the district court. Respondents Brian Mineau and Legion Investments, LLC (hereafter, "Mineau/Legion") are the defendants. Mineau is the sole member/manager of Legion.

The operative pleading is Kvam's Second Amended Complaint ("SAC") which contains causes of action including Declaration of Joint Venture; Rescission or Reformation of Agreement; Breach of Contract – Loan; Breach of Contract and Tortious Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing – Joint Venture Agreement; Accounting; Court Supervision of Dissolution and Winding Up, and Appointment of Receiver; Temporary and Permanent Injunction; Fraud, Fraudulent Inducement and Concealment; Conversion; Rico; and Derivative Claim (on behalf of the unincorporated joint venture referred to as 7747 S. May Street).

Regarding injunctive relief, Kvam's SAC alleges as follows:

IX. SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION (Temporary and Permanent Injunction)

- 46. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference all of the paragraphs above as though fully set forth herein.
- 47. Following dissolution of the joint venture, MINEAU and LEGION should be temporarily and permanently enjoined from conducting any business on behalf of 7747 or incurring any liabilities in furtherance of the renovation project, except as approved by the Court and necessary to preserve the House.

* * * *

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief as follows:

* * * *

3. For a temporary and permanent injunction enjoining MINEAU and LEGION from any further involvement with 7747 and its assets;

(5 JA 756).

On January 6, 2020, Mineau/Legion filed a *Motion for Summary Judgment* in which they requested summary judgment on all of the causes of action alleged in Kvam's SAC. [7 JA 1003]. Their motion was supported by a sham declaration from Brian Mineau [7 JA 1033]. Par. 25 of Mineau's declaration added new facts after the close of discovery, contradicted and disavowed his previous sworn declaration and discovery responses, was not credible on its face, and was not supported by the extensive record. In contrast, Kvam provided a detailed opposition that was supported by 27 exhibits including a lengthy declaration. [10 JA 1251]. Kvam also explained in his opposition that in order to more fully respond to Mineau/Legion's

Motion for Summary Judgment, he needed discovery that was addressed in the January 10, 2020 Recommendation for Order from the Discovery Commissioner, Hon. Wesley Ayers. [9 JA 1226]. To date, Judge Simons has not ruled on Commissioner Ayers' Recommendation for Order.

Kvam also filed a motion requesting reconsideration of a prior discovery order and sanctions relating to the new, fraudulent material asserted in Par. 25 of Mineau's declaration. [See Motion for Reconsideration of Order Affirming Discovery Commissioner's Recommendation, Entered May 16, 2019, For Discovery Sanctions; and For Other Relief, 12 JA 1518]. Judge Simons never ruled on this motion, either.

On June 5, 2020, Judge Simons entered the Order Granting, in Part, and Denying, in Part, Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment; Order Granting Summary Judgment on Claim Pursuant to Court's NRCP 56 Notice. [14 JA 1948]. Essentially, Judge Simons granted summary judgment on most of Kvam's causes of action, including all of his claims for monetary damages, leaving only the causes of action for declaration of joint venture, dissolution and winding up and accounting. In addition, Judge Simons sua sponte granted summary judgment in favor of Mineau/Legion on a counterclaim that they asserted in response to Kvam's original Verified Complaint, despite the fact that most of the counterclaims had already been dismissed and Mineau/Legion did not assert any counterclaims in their answer to Kvam's SAC. [See Answer to Second Amended Verified Complaint, 5 JA 769].

Regarding Kvam's Seventh Cause of Action for Temporary and Permanent Injunction, Judge Simons ordered as follows:

IV. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

* * * *

62. Temporary and Permanent Injunction.

- 63. The *SAC's* Seventh Cause of action is for Temporary and Permanent Injunction.
- 64. Based on the findings and conclusions on the SAC's Second, Third, Fourth, Fifth and Sixth Causes of Action, and on the FACC's Third Claim for Relief for Declaratory Relief, and the deposit of the funds with the Court, the *SAC's* Seventh Cause of Action for Temporary and Permanent Injunction is legally ineffectual and summary judgment should be denied.

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED SUMMARY ADJUDICATION IS GRANTED, DENIED AND HELD IN ABEYANCE AS FOLLOWS:

* * * *

8. Based on the Court's foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law, summary adjudication is DENIED on the *SAC's* Seventh Cause of Action for Temporary and Permanent Injunction as the claim is legally ineffectual based on the deposit of funds.

[14 JA 1971, 1982, 1988, 1990].

Based on the foregoing, Judge Simons' order regarding injunctive relief is based entirely on the various other findings of fact and conclusions of law stated throughout the order, including her findings, conclusions and order granting summary judgment in favor of Mineau/Legion on a counterclaim that had been

superseded by their subsequent pleadings and was no longer pending. To make matters worse, some of Judge Simons' findings of fact are not supported by any citation to the record, she largely ignored Mr. Kvam's declaration, and many of her findings of fact are supported by a reference to "DA", which she explains means that the bare, conclusory allegations in Mineau/Legion's counterclaims are deemed admitted, even though most of the counterclaims had been dismissed, the pleadings had long since been superseded and no counterclaims were pending. As such, this Court's review of the sufficiency of the order on Kvam's Seventh Cause of Action for Temporary and Permanent Injunction is inextricably linked to a review of the rest of the order and Judge Simons' novel theory of summary judgment based on deemed admitted counterclaims that were not even pending.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The following facts are set forth in the *Declaration of Jay Kvam in Support of Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment; and Cross-Motion for Partial Summary Judgment* [10 JA 1290-98].

- 1. In late December, 2016, Michael Spinola contacted Kvam about a house "flip" project Mineau was starting at 7747 S. May Street, Chicago, Illinois (the "Property" or the "Project") [10 JA 1291 ¶2].