IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JAY KVAM,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Feb 08 2021 03:14 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

BRIAN MINEAU; AND LEGION INVESTMENTS, LLC,

Supreme Court Case No. 81422

District Case No. CV18-00764

Appeal from the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, In and for the County of Washoe The Honorable Lynne Simons, District Judge

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

Austin K. Sweet, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 11725 Mark H. Gunderson, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 2134 3895 Warren Way Reno, Nevada 89509 (775) 829-1222

Attorneys for Respondents Brian Mineau and Legion Investments, LLC

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

This interlocutory appeal comes before this Court pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(3). Kvam bore the burden before the district court to establish the viability of his claims, including his right to injunctive relief, in order to survive summary judgment. Kvam utterly failed to meet that burden. Specifically concerning injunctive relief, Kvam has not affirmatively sought injunctive relief and has never articulated with specificity the acts he seeks to have restrained. Pursuant to the district court's Order, the joint venture has no assets, the joint venture has no ongoing business, and all interests and rights in the joint venture have been assigned to Kvam. Further, the bulk of the proceeds from the sale have been deposited with the clerk of court, and the remaining \$1,864.14 has not been deposited with the clerk because Kvam refused to stipulate to allow Legion/Mineau to do so. Accordingly, there is simply nothing left to restrain or enjoin and the district court properly determined that Kvam's Seventh Cause of Action is legally ineffectual.

The core of Kvam's claims throughout this lawsuit appear to arise from a belief that his investment carried no risk and, therefore, the mere fact that the real estate project failed evidences that Legion or Mineau must have engaged in some

manner of fraud or actionable misconduct. However, after discovery had closed and in the face of summary judgment, Kvam failed to identify <u>any</u> admissible evidence to meaningfully substantiate his claims that Legion or Mineau personally guaranteed Kvam's investment or are otherwise somehow legally responsible for the losses all parties suffered in this investment when TNT breached the Contractor Agreement. Kvam's bare and unsubstantiated allegations were insufficient to sustain his claims before the district court and are certainly insufficient to reverse the district court's decisions on appeal.

The district court did not commit reversible error and its decisions should be affirmed.

V. ARGUMENT

Kvam's *Opening Brief* identifies four specific issues on appeal. AOB p. 1. However, the body of Kvam's brief does not clearly set forth his contentions concerning these issues and the reasons for them, so the specific bases for Kvam's appeal are unclear. Legion and Mineau will therefore address the four identified issues on appeal first and then address the litany of other issues raised in the body of Kvam's *Opening Brief*.

A. The District Court Properly Granted Partial Summary Judgment.

Kvam's first identified issue on appeal is whether the district court committed multiple errors of law and abused its discretion by granting partial summary

judgment in favor of Mineau/Legion based on "deemed admitted" findings of fact and a "sham" declaration, and by failing to first rule on underlying discovery motions. AOB p. 1. The specific legal bases for Kvam's appeal are unclear. Regardless, the district court did not commit reversible error in this regard.

This Court reviews the grant or denial of summary judgment de novo. <u>9352</u> <u>Cranesbill Tr. v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.</u>, 136 Nev. 76, 78, 459 P.3d 227, 229 (2020).

 The district court did not commit reversible error by including "deemed admitted" facts in its Order.

The district court's Order included reference to facts which were "deemed admitted" due to Kvam's failure to file an answer to Legion an Mineau's FACC. 14 JA 1961, 1963 fn. 5, & 1972. On appeal, Kvam does not dispute that he failed to file an answer to the FACC, nor does he dispute that any allegation is deemed admitted if a responsive pleading is required and the allegation is not denied. NRCP 8(b)(6). Rather, Kvam asserts that Legion and Mineau abandoned their counterclaim by not re-pleading it along with their answers to Kvam's first and second amended complaints; thus, Kvam contends that the FACC was not actually pending and could not form the basis for any undenied allegations to be "deemed admitted." AOB pp. 28; 31; & 36-37. Kvam's position is unsupported by any argument or citation to authority. Id.

///

The issue of whether a defendant abandons its counterclaim when it fails to re-plead it along with an answer to an amended complaint has never been addressed in Nevada. However, the issue has been extensively addressed in federal courts. A commonly adopted approach comes from the Western District of Pennsylvania, which held that a defendant is not required to replead a counterclaim in response to an amended complaint, stating:

Rule 13, which governs counterclaims, requires only that a counterclaim be set forth in a pleading—it does not mandate that it be contained in an answer. Further, an answer responds to allegations in a complaint, a counterclaim is something independent. Revisions to a complaint do not require revisions to a counterclaim.

Dunkin' Donuts, Inc. v. Romanias, No. CIV.A.00-1886, 2002 WL 32955492, at *2 (W.D. Pa. May 29, 2002) (internal quotations omitted). This approach has been adopted by the Western District of Washington (Umouyo v. Bank of Am., N.A., No. 2:16-CV-01576-RAJ, 2019 WL 359268, at *2 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 29, 2019)), the District Court of Idaho (Ada Cty. Highway Dist. v. Rhythm Eng'g, LLC, No. 1:15-CV-00584-CWD, 2017 WL 1502791, at *7 (D. Idaho Apr. 25, 2017)), the Central District of California (AnTerra Grp. Inc. v. KiVAR Chem. Techs., No. SACV1300734JVSANX, 2014 WL 12589631, at *3 (C.D. Cal. May 23, 2014)), and

¹ "Federal cases interpreting the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are strong persuasive authority, because the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure are based in large part upon their federal counterparts." <u>Exec. Mgmt., Ltd. v. Ticor Title Ins. Co.</u>, 118 Nev. 46, 53, 38 P.3d 872, 876 (2002) (internal quotations omitted).

the District of Maryland (Ground Zero Museum Workshop v. Wilson, 813 F. Supp. 2d 678, 706 (D. Md. 2011)), among others. This approach avoids the overly-formalistic requirement that a party re-file the same counterclaim in any answer to an amended complaint and therefore promotes Rule 1's policy that the rules be construed to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action. AnTerra, supra. Indeed, a grave failure of justice could result if a plaintiff was able to nullify a defendant's counterclaims simply by amending its complaint.

Furthermore, Kvam plainly knew and understood that Legion and Mineau were maintaining their FACC throughout this case. As late as the final pretrial conference, conducted just a few weeks before trial was scheduled to commence, Kvam's attorney expressly acknowledged that Legion and Mineau maintained a counterclaim for declaratory relief and gave no indication that he believed the FACC had been abandoned or superseded. 15 JA 2109-2110. Thus, Kvam plainly knew that Legion and Mineau intended to maintain their FACC.

Nevada law does not, and should not, require a defendant to re-plead a counterclaim in response to an amended complaint. Legion and Mineau's FACC was properly pending before the district court. Kvam did not answer the FACC, so the district court properly deemed the undenied allegations of the FACC admitted pursuant to NRCP 8(6)(b). The district court did not commit any error in this regard.

///

Even if this Court assigns any error to the district court's adoption of "deemed admitted" facts, such error was harmless and does not warrant reversing the Order. NRCP 61. Of the seventy-four (74) Undisputed Material Facts identified in the Order, only seven (7) of them were "deemed admitted" with no other undisputed evidence. 14 JA 1963-71, ¶¶ 8, 11, 12, 13, 19, 65, and 72. Of these, Kvam only specifically objects to four (4), each of which is addressed specifically in Section V(B) below. None of these "deemed admitted" facts were essential to any of the conclusions in the Order and even if each of these facts was disregarded from the Order, Kvam's substantial rights would not change. Therefore, the district court did not commit reversible error in this regard.

2. The district court did not commit reversible error by relying upon the undisputed facts set forth in Mineua's declaration.

Throughout his *Opening Brief*, Kvam refers to the *Declaration of Brian Mineau* attached as Exhibit 1 to the *Motion for Summary Judgment* as a "sham declaration." Kvam claims that Mineau's declaration is a "sham" because, in Paragraph 25 of his declaration, Mineau voluntarily corrected certain testimony contained in a previous declaration. 7 JA 1036-1037. Consequently, Kvam apparently believes that the district court erred and abused its discretion by not simply disregarding Mineau's declaration in its entirety. Again, Kvam's position is unsupported by any legal argument or citation to authority.

One of the bases of Kvam's claims in this action is that each of the three partners (Kvam, Michael Spinola, and Legion / Mineau) was supposed to fund a payment to the contractor for the renovation, but that Legion / Mineau failed to do so. 5 JA 758 ¶ 8(b) & 15. However, as Mineau repeatedly testified, he made Legion's renovation draw by causing Criterion NV LLC to wire \$20,000.00 to the contractor. 3 JA 337; 7 JA 1036-37; 12 JA 1536; 12 JA 1544-45. Kvam never presented any evidence to refute that this payment was made or that it was made on Mineau's behalf. Nonetheless, Kvam repeatedly demanded independent proof of Criterion NV LLC's arrangement with Legion and further details establishing the underlying source of the funds used to make this payment. Legion and Mineau maintained throughout this litigation that this information is completely irrelevant: what matters is *that* the payment was made, not *how* the payment was made.

Despite the irrelevance of this issue, and in an effort to avoid incurring substantial litigation and discovery costs related to this issue, Mineau executed a declaration wherein he explained that the \$20,000.00 had come from his personal safe at home and that, because Mineau was out of town when the contractor

_

² Kvam never provided any evidence of this alleged arrangement and it is disputed by Legion and Mineau. However, whether or not Legion / Mineau were *contractually obligated* to fund a renovation draw is not material because Legion / Mineau *did* fund a renovation draw.

requested payment, he recalled that Mr. Spinola retrieved the cash from Mineau's house and wired it to the contractor through Mr. Spinola's bank. 12 JA 1544-45. When subsequently preparing the *Motion for Summary Judgment* and for trial, Mineau realized that his previous recollection was mistaken. 7 JA 1036-1037. Although Mr. Spinola did agree to arrange the payment while Mineau was out of town, the funds did not come from Mineau's personal safe, but were borrowed from Bradley Tammen. <u>Id.</u> Despite the irrelevance of the source of the funds, Mineau unilaterally acknowledged and voluntarily corrected his mistake. Id.

The district court made no findings of fact or conclusions of law whatsoever in the Order concerning the underlying source of these funds. Thus, the underlying source of these funds is not material to the issues or the Order. Simply put, whether Legion wired the funds directly from its own account, used cash from Mineau's personal safe, borrowed the money, or procured the funds through any other source is completely irrelevant to the merits of this dispute or the Order on appeal.

Importantly, Kvam does <u>not</u> claim that this corrected testimony caused him some unfair prejudice or prevented him from timely presenting the evidence he needed to survive summary judgment. Kvam's *Opening Brief* and the record establish that Kvam knew all along that Mineau had borrowed this money from Bradley Tammen. <u>See</u> AOB p. 26; <u>see also</u> 12 JA 1564 (<u>establishing</u> that Bradley Tammen told Kvam on November 15, 2017 - six months before the lawsuit was filed

- that he had loaned Mineau \$20,000.00 for this project). Nonetheless, Kvam never deposed Mineau, never deposed Mr. Spinola, never deposed Mr. Tammen, and never propounded written discovery specific to this issue. Thus, Kvam seemingly understood the insignificance of this issue, did not materially rely on Mineau's initial mistaken testimony, and was not unfairly prejudice by the fact that Mineau later corrected that testimony. Mineau's corrected testimony simply had no impact on Kvam's ability to oppose summary judgment or the district court's Order.

Kvam has presented no argument or authority, and none exists, that Mineau's voluntary correction renders the entirety of Mineau's testimony perjured or warrants disregarding Mineau's entire declaration as a "sham." As such, the district court did not commit reversible error by relying in part on Mineau's declaration.

3. The district court did not commit reversible error by granting partial summary judgment before ruling on underlying discovery motions.

Every district court has the authority to control its own docket. See Maheu v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 89 Nev. 214, 217, 510 P.2d 627, 629 (1973) (recognizing the court's inherent power to "control the disposition of the causes on its docket with economy of time and effort for itself, for counsel, and for litigants"); see also Yong v. Immigration and Naturalization Service, 208 F.3d 1116, 1119 (9th Cir.2000) (holding that a court has the inherent authority to control its own docket and calendar). The *Motion for Summary Judgment* was filed on January 6, 2020 [7 JA

1003]; the Recommendation for Order was filed January 10, 2020 [9 JA 1226]; and the Motion for Reconsideration was filed January 24, 2020 [12 JA 1518]. Kvam's position that it was an abuse of discretion for the district court to hear and address the motions pending on its docket in the chronological order in which they were filed is unsupported by any argument or citation to authority and would completely strip the district court of its authority to control its own docket.

Regardless, if Kvam felt that he could not present facts necessary to survive summary judgment absent the discovery sought in the pending motions, he was required to follow the process set forth in NRCP 56(d). Rule 56(d) relief "is appropriate only when the movant expresses how further discovery will lead to the creation of a genuine issue of material fact." Aviation Ventures, Inc. v. Joan Morris, Inc., 121 Nev. 113, 118, 110 P.3d 59, 62 (2005); see also Bakerink v. Orthopaedic Associates, Ltd., 94 Nev. 428, 431, 581 P.2d 9, 11 (1978). In opposing the *Motion* for Summary Judgment, Kvam asked the district court to defer ruling on his Ninth Cause of Action (Conversion) only and made no attempt to identify in his affidavit what facts might be obtained through the pending discovery motions that were essential to justify his opposition. 10 JA 1281. Kvam therefore failed to make a proper showing under NRCP 56(d) and the district court did not abuse its discretion by entering partial summary judgment before ruling on the other motions. Further, even if this Court determines that Kvam should have been afforded NRCP 56(d) relief, such relief could only support reversing the Order with respect to Kvam's Ninth Cause of Action (Conversion).

There is nothing in the record to support a finding that the district court committed any errors of law or abused its discretion in any way by granting partial summary judgment. The Order should be affirmed.

B. No Genuine Issues Of Material Fact Remain That Would Support Reversal Of The Order.

Kvam's second identified issue on appeal is whether genuine issues of fact remain for trial. AOB p. 1. Kvam's *Opening Brief* enumerates six (6) specific findings of fact which Kvam argues were erroneous. <u>Id.</u> pp. 31-36. None of these findings was erroneous and, even if any were, reversal of the Order is unwarranted.

This Court reviews the grant or denial of summary judgment de novo. 9352 Cranesbill Tr., supra. "Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings and other evidence on file, viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, demonstrate that no genuine issue of material fact remains in dispute and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id. (citing Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005)). "A genuine issue of material fact exists if, based on the evidence presented, a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party." Id. (citing Butler v. Bayer, 123 Nev. 450, 457-58, 168 P.3d 1055, 1061 (2007)).

1. Finding of Fact # 8.

Kvam argues that the district court erroneously found that "Mr. Kvam drafted the Terms of Agreement." AOB p. 31. The record does not support a finding that the district court committed reversible error in this regard.

Kvam first argues that this fact should not have been "deemed admitted" because Legion and Mineau's FACC was never re-plead in subsequent pleadings. AOB p. 31. As explained in Section V(A)(1) above, Kvam's the FACC was not superseded because a defendant is not required to re-plead a counterclaim in response to an amended complaint. Thus, the district court properly "deemed admitted" all allegations in the FACC which Kvam failed to deny. NRCP 8(b)(6).

Regardless, even if this Court assigns any error to the district court's finding in this regard, such error was harmless and does not warrant reversing the Order. NRCP 61. The district court did not rely upon or refer to Finding of Fact # 8 in any of its conclusions, nor did the district court draw any inferences against Kvam as the drafter of the contract. Accordingly, any error in this regard do not affect Kvam's substantial rights and should be disregarded as harmless.

Whether Kvam drafted the Terms of Agreement is therefore not a genuine issue of material fact that warrants reversal of the Order.

///

///

2. Finding of Fact # 12.

Kvam argues that the district court erroneously found that "All parties to the Terms of Agreement knew this was a high-risk investment." AOB p. 32. The record does not support a finding that the district court committed reversible error in this regard. Again, the district court properly deemed this allegation admitted for the reasons explained above.

Rather than identify any admissible evidence in the record to establish a genuine issue concerning this fact, Kvam simply states, "It is unclear why Judge Simons included this finding except to advocate for some sort of assumption of the risk theory," and then goes on to argue why an assumption of the risk holding would have been improper. However, the district court did not grant summary judgment based upon an assumption of the risk theory, making these facts simply "background facts" and rendering Kvam's entire argument concerning them moot. Kvam has utterly failed to identify how any error in this regard affected his substantial rights. NRCP 61.

Whether the parties knew this was a high-risk investment is therefore not a genuine issue of material fact that warrants reversal of the Order.

3. Finding of Fact # 43.

Kvam argues that the district court erroneously found that, "On May 26, 2017, Criterion NV LLC, acting on Mr. Mineau's behalf, wired \$20,000 directly to TNT

with reference 'May Street.'" AOB pp. 32-33. The record does not support a finding that the district court committed reversible error in this regard.

Kvam contends that this is a genuinely disputed material fact because "there is no evidence that this money was sent on Mineau's behalf...." AOB p. 32. On the contrary, Mineau expressly testified that this money was sent on his behalf.³ 7 JA 1036-37. Furthermore, Kvam's own evidence shows that Mr. Tammen lent this money to Mineau. See AOB p. 26; see also 12 JA 1564. Kvam points to no evidence in the record to refute these facts, and no such evidence exists. Thus, although Kvam has repeatedly theorized, without basis, that this money was not sent on Mineau's behalf, he has failed to provide a shred of evidence to meaningfully substantiate this claim. Cuzze v. University and Community College System of Nevada, 123 Nev. 598, 602, 172 P.3d 131, 134 (2007) ("[I]n order to defeat summary judgment, the nonmoving party must transcend the pleadings and, by affidavit or other admissible evidence, introduce specific facts that show a genuine issue of material fact.").

Kvam concludes his argument with, "Ironically, it does not help Mineau to claim that he invested \$20,000 in the Project." AOB p. 33. In that case, as Kvam admits, any error in this regard is harmless. NRCP 61.

///

³ Although Mineau admittedly corrected his testimony concerning the underlying source of these funds, Mineau has consistently testified that this money was sent on his behalf.

There is no genuine dispute as to whether Criterion NV LLC, acting on Mr. Mineau's behalf, wired \$20,000.00 directly to TNT with reference "May Street." The district court did not commit reversible error in this regard.

4. Finding of Fact # 49.

Kvam asserts that the district court erroneously found that "Mr. Kvam acquired information directly from TNT and did not rely on Mr. Mineau's representations." AOB p. 33. The record does not support a finding that the district court committed reversible error in this regard.

The record plainly establishes that Kvam was in direct communication with TNT regarding the status and progress of the project and that Kvam acquired information directly from TNT. See generally 7 JA 1080 - 8 JA 1184. Indeed, reviewing this finding in context reveals that the district court had just spent two pages of the Order enumerating all the ways in which Kvam acquired information and updates about the project directly from TNT. 14 JA 1966-68 ¶¶ 29-47. By contrast, the record is devoid of any evidence that Kvam relied upon Mineau's statements, rather than Kvam's direct communications with TNT, regarding the status of the project.

Kvam nonetheless argues that this finding was erroneous because "Many of the misrepresentations complained of occurred prior to [TNT's involvement]." AOB p. 34. However, regardless of the timing, the district court correctly determined that

"Mr. Kvam identifies no specific evidence that Mr. Mineau made any affirmative misrepresentations during the Project" and "Mr. Kvam cites not [sic] evidence that Mr. Mineau supplied false information to him." 14 JA 1984 ¶¶ 74-75. Kvam's efforts to assign some error to Finding of Fact # 49 by taking it out of the proper context of the entire Order are unavailing.

Kvam goes on to argue that, if the district court "meant to say that Mineau should be excused for providing false status reports based on information received from TNT, that is not a correct statement of law." AOB p. 34. The district court did not say that, so Kvam's entire argument is baseless.

There is no genuine dispute that Kvam acquired information directly from TNT and that Kvam did not rely on Mineau's representations. The district court did not commit reversible error in this regard.

5. Finding of Fact # 65.

Kvam argues that the district court erroneously found that, "For reasons beyond any of the parties' knowledge, control or expectation, the contractor hired to perform the renovations did not or was not able to complete the job." AOB p. 35. The record does not support a finding that the district court committed reversible error in this regard.

Kvam's argument on appeal relies upon the bald statement that "there is no evidence to support the finding that the contractor is to blame" for the project's

failure. AOB p. 35. On the contrary, the clear and undisputed evidence shows that the contractor agreed to complete the renovation by June 1, 2017, at a total cost of \$80,000.00, that the contractor was paid \$69,000.00 toward this project, and that the contractor failed to perform its obligations. 14 JA 1965-69 ¶¶ 15-58.

Kvam again attempts to misconstrue the district court's holding, arguing that if the district court was attempting to advocate for an affirmative defense of a supervening cause, it would have been error to do so. The district court did not grant summary judgment based upon the theory of supervening cause, so Kvam's entire argument is again baseless.

There is no genuine dispute that the contractor did not complete the job. The district court did not commit reversible error in this regard.

7. Finding of Fact # 72.

Last, Kvam argues that the district court erroneously found that "Mineau and Legion fulfilled all of their obligations under the Terms of Agreement." AOB p. 36. Kvam asserts that "this allegation has no evidentiary value and is disputed for all of the reasons set forth above and below." Kvam offers no supported facts or specific argument, and identifies no specific errors concerning this finding, and has therefore failed to establish that the district court committed reversible error in this regard. Regardless, even if this Court assigns any error to the district court's finding in this regard, such error was harmless and does not warrant reversing the Order because

the district court did not rely upon or refer to Finding of Fact # 72 in any of its conclusions. NRCP 61.

There is nothing in the record to support a finding that the district court committed reversible error by granting partial summary judgment when genuine issues of material fact remained for trial. The Order should be affirmed.

C. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Failing To Rule On The Recommendation For Order Or The Motion For Reconsideration.

Kvam's third and fourth identified issues on appeal are whether the district court abused its discretion by failing to rule on the Recommendation for Order or the Motion for Reconsideration. AOB p. 2. The district court did not commit reversible error in this regard.

Kvam's argument exemplifies the problems inherent with his attempt to greatly expand the scope of this limited interlocutory appeal. In its Order, the district court expressly directed the parties "to resubmit any motions previously submitted which are not made moot by reason of this Order." 14 JA 1991. Rather than follow the district court's direction, Kvam filed this appeal. It is simply incredible for Kvam to now complain that the district court abused its discretion by failing to rule on motions which Kvam never submitted.

Furthermore, it is entirely unclear what relief Kvam seeks concerning these issues. The district court has not ruled on these motions because Kvam filed this

appeal instead of resubmitting them as directed. The only relief this Court could afford Kvam would be to remand this matter to the district court for a ruling. Of course, the district court would have ruled on these motions long ago had Kvam resubmitted them, per the district court's direction, instead of filing this appeal. By filing an interlocutory appeal based in part on the district court's failure to rule on pending motions, Kvam has created a circular, procedural mess which has accomplished nothing but wasting more time and resources chasing recourse for a failed project.

There is nothing in the record to support a finding that the district court committed some manner of reversible error by "failing to rule" on the Recommendation for Order or the Motion for Reconsideration. This interlocutory appeal should be dismissed and this matter remanded so the district court can finish adjudicating this case.

D. The District Court's Order Does Not Contain Any Reversible Errors Of Law.

Kvam concludes his *Opening Brief* with a list of all the conclusions of law contained in the district court's Order which he argues were erroneous. AOB pp. 36-49. The district court did not commit reversible error in this regard. Legion and Mineau will address each alleged error in turn.

1. Kvam's First Cause of Action and Mineau/Legion's FACC.

Kvam does not contend that the district court committed any reversible error concerning his First Cause of Action or Legion/Mineau's FACC. However, Kvam does repeat his argument that the FACC had been superseded because Legion and Mineau did not re-plead their counterclaims in their answers to Kvam's amended complaints. AOB pp. 36-37. For the reasons discussed in Section V(A)(1) above, a defendant is not required to re-plead a counterclaim in response to an amended complaint.

The district court did not commit any reversible error in granting summary judgment in Legion and Mineau's favor on their FACC.

2. Kvam's Second Cause of Action.

The district court entered summary judgment in favor of Legion and Mineau on Kvam's Second Cause of Action based upon the conclusion that "Mr. Kvam has failed to bring forth specific evidence that the parties, at the time of contracting, shared a misconception about a vital fact upon which they based their bargain, or that the Terms of Agreement fail to conform to the true intention of the parties or the parties' previous understanding or agreement." 14 JA 1976 ¶ 28. Rather than identify any evidence in the record to refute this finding, Kvam asserts that the district court abused its discretion because it "repeat[ed] an error that was first stated in Conclusion of Law 21.f," that "There was no meeting of the minds regarding any

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